**RECEIVED**

**Feb 04 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

NATHANIEL MITCHELL,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000069

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find that the improper bolstering testimony by a witness qualified as an expert in child psychology and forensic interviewing was prejudicial?
  
2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find trial counsel ineffective for failing to object when the prosecutor improperly argued in closing that Petitioner's wife knew he abused the child, a statement unsupported by the record or any reasonable inference that could be drawn from the record?

## STATEMENT

In June of 2000, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Nathaniel Mitchell, for homicide by child abuse, indictment #2000-GS-40-5066. On May 17, 2002, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable Henry F. Floyd. Douglas Strickler and Lesley "Lee" Coggiola represented Petitioner at trial. Kathryn Luck Campbell and Vanessa Cooper prosecuted the case. The jury found Petitioner guilty and Judge Floyd sentenced Petitioner to twenty-five (25) years in prison.

A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. On January 10, 2005, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction, State v. Mitchell, 362 S.C. 289, 608 S.E.2d 140 (Ct. App. 2005). A petition for rehearing was filed and denied on April 22, 2005. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed with the South Carolina Supreme Court and denied on October 19, 2006.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief [PCR] on October 8, 2007, and November 5, 2007. (App. pp. 1056 – 1084). Additionally, on October 8, 2007, Petitioner filed a motion for disclosure of discovery and a motion for appointment of counsel. (App. pp. 1091-1108). The State filed a return and motion to dismiss on March 4, 2008. (App. pp. 1085-1090). On September 11, 2008, the Honorable J. Michelle Childs signed an order granting Petitioner's motion to appoint counsel and motion for disclosure of discovery. (App. pp. 1109-1110). On March 2, 2012, Petitioner filed an amendment to the application for post-conviction relief. (App. pp. 1111-1113). On January 16, 2012, Petitioner filed a motion for abeyance. (App. pp. 1114 - 1134). The State filed a response on February 29, 2012. (App. pp. 1135-1138). On August 16, 2012, the Honorable James R. Barber, III, signed an order appointing the Richland County Public Defender Office to represent Petitioner for the limited purpose of filing a motion for new trial

based on after discovered evidence pursuant to Rule 29(c), SCRCrimP. (App. pp. 1139-1140). On January 14, 2015, Petitioner filed a memorandum of law in support of the motion for new trial. (App. pp. 1144-1176). On April 3, 2015, a hearing was held before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith on the motion for abeyance. The order holding the PCR action in abeyance until the motion for new trial was resolved was not signed until September 11, 2015. (App. pp. 1141-1143).

On February 9, 2015, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood on the motion for new trial. E. Fielding Pringle represented Petitioner. (App. pp. 1177-1404). Joanna A. McDuffie represented the State. In an order signed July 29, 2015, Judge Hood denied the motion for new trial based on after discovered evidence. (App. pp. 1405-1409). On February 17, 2016, Petitioner filed a second amendment to the application for post-conviction relief. (App. pp. 1410-1412). On June 2, 2016, Petitioner filed a third amendment to the application for post-conviction relief. (App. p. 1413). On July 12, 2016, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable D. Craig Brown. (App. pp. 1415-1503). Tricia Blanchette represented Petition. Jessica Kinard represented the State. In an order signed December 6, 2018, Judge Brown denied relief and dismissed the application. (App. pp. 1505-1527). A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on January 16, 2019. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed on July 1, 2019. The return was filed on December 16, 2019. On January 5, 2022, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari as to issues one and three and denied the petition as to issue two. This brief of petitioner follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them.” Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018), (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016), and Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). “We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts.” Id. at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citing Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527, and Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)). “[W]e will reverse the PCR court's decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527.

## ARGUMENTS

- 1. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find that the improper bolstering testimony by a witness qualified as an expert in child psychology and forensic interviewing was prejudicial.**

The jury found Petitioner guilty of homicide by child abuse for the death of one of his three foster children who Petitioner and his wife were in the process of adopting. The State's theory was that the two-year old child died as a result of so called "shaken baby syndrome." (App. pp. 105-107). At trial the judge granted, over objection, the State's motion to videotape the testimony of the deceased child's older sister, NG. (App. pp. 13-50). NG was four at the time of the death of her two-year old sister and six at the time of trial. When asked on the video if she remembered what Papa [Petitioner] was doing to Minor [the two-year old sister], NG testified that, "He was spanking her hard and harder and she died." (App. p. 121, lines 7-12). When asked if she remembered what he was spanking her with, NG testified, "His belt." (App. p. 125, lines 7-9).

After NG's video testimony was played for the jury (App. p. 485, lines 2-21), the State called as their next witness Dr. Allison DeFelice. (App. p. 485, lines 22-25). Dr. DeFelice conducted a forensic interview with NG. (App. p. 491, lines 5-18). The doctor was qualified, without objection, as an expert in child psychology and forensic interviewing. (App. p. 488, lines 7-11). The prosecutor asked Dr. DeFelice, in the presence of the jury, about older children fabricating allegations. (App. p. 488, line 25 – p. 489, lines 1-3). The prosecutor then asked, "And are you trained - - do you have any specialized training in looking for any evidence of fabrication or story telling?" (App. p. 489, lines 4-6). Dr. DeFelice answered, "Yes." (App. p. 489, line 7). The prosecutor then asked, "And Doctor, in younger, children, though, children under the ages of three, four, five and six, fabrication, is that a reality with children that age?" (App. p. 489, lines 8-11). The doctor testified, "Well, the issues are different with preschool children. They can't

appreciate the cause and effect relationship. In other words, if I say certain things, what - - how the grownups will react or will happen, so they're not motivated in the same way older children are. The main issue with younger children is how we ask the questions to elicit the correct, the true, information." (App. p. 489, lines 12-20). The prosecutor went further and asked, "And, of course, whenever you interview a small child where fabrication is not a real concern, you're always concerned with any kind of coaching or suggestion made to the child." (App. p. 489, lines 21-24). The doctor agreed. (App. p. 489, line 25).

The prosecutor asked Dr. DeFelice, in the presence of the jury, "But during the course of that interview, did you see any coaching or deception on the part of the child?" (App. p. 491, lines 22-24). Dr. DeFelice answered, "No, none." (App. p. 491, line 25). De DeFelice was next asked, "And was her account of what had happened as it was given to you, not what it was, consistent from what she had said from the outset?" (App. p. 492, lines 1-3). Dr. DeFelice answered, "Yes." (App. p. 492, line 4). Trial counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's questioning.

Dr. DeFelice interviewed NG again in April of 2002, at the request of the State. (App. p. 492, lines 20-25). In the presence of the jury Dr. DeFelice testified:

You referred her back to me with three principal questions, the first being a question of competency, which has to do with whether or not a child demonstrates an understanding of the truth versus a lie and the importance of telling the truth, also whether or not, you know, two years later whether or not NH had memories about the events surrounding her sister's death, and thirdly, how emotionally she was functioning and what the potential impact would be of rendering testimony in front of the defendant.

(App. p. 493, lines 4-14). The prosecutor then asked the doctor, "And doctor, was NG - or did she independently in your expert opinion, was she able to remember the events surrounding her sister's death?" (App. p. 493, lines 21-24). The doctor answered, "Yes." (App. p. 493, line 25).

The prosecutor asked the doctor if a four-year old was capable “of remembering as she did initially and then two years later?” (App. p. 494, lines 5-6). The doctor answered, “Certainly, yes.” (App. p. 493, line 7). Dr. DeFelice discussed memory in children and the fact that they are more likely to remember traumatic events. (App. p. 494, lines 7-25). The prosecutor finally asked, “And after interviewing her in April, in your opinion, does she still have an independent memory of what happened?” (App. p. 495, lines 4-6). The doctor answered, “Oh, absolutely, yes.” (App. p. 495, line 7). Trial counsel objected to the testimony of Dr. DeFelice based on hearsay but not based on improper bolstering. (App. p. 491, lines 3-14).

In testifying, as an expert, that she saw no deception on the part of NG and that she had an independent memory of what happened, the doctor improperly vouched for or bolstered the credibility of the witness. Although the doctor did not directly testify that NG knew the difference between the truth and a lie, it was implied. See Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 329, 806 S.E.2d 713, 720 (2017) (n. 4 omitted) (“Similarly, her testimony that she made the determination the child understood the difference between a truth and a lie before she conducted the interviews is not part of her evidentiary role. Arroyo-Staggs' testimony not only revealed to the jury that she believed the child knew the difference, but she also indirectly revealed she believed the subsequent disclosure in the interview was the truth. There was no purpose for this testimony except to bolster the victim's credibility, and thus it was improper.”).

In the second amendment to the application for post-conviction relief Petitioner alleged, “Ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to make contemporaneous objections during the trial testimony of Dr. DeFelice regarding the forensic interview, treatment and opinions regarding the child witness, which amounted to inadmissible bolstering of the child witness.” (App. p. 1410). During the PCR hearing Petitioner testified that his attorneys should have objected to the testimony

of Dr. DeFelice. (App. pp. 1426-1428). When questioned about the testimony of Dr. DeFelice at the PCR hearing trial counsel Strickler testified, “In 2002, 2003, I certainly was aware of the concept of an objection for bolstering and that being the basis to move for a mistrial in a particular case. If, indeed, the testimony appears to be such that that’s what she was engaged in, we should have objected in that regard.” (App. p. 1453, lines 1-5).

During the PCR hearing trial counsel Coggiola testified that she should have objected to the testimony of Dr. DeFelice based on improper bolstering. (App. p. 1481, line 9 – p. 1482, 1483, 1484, lines 1-8). When asked what part the testimony of NG played in the trial, counsel Coggiola testified, “NG was present at the house on the day of the incident for which he is charged, and I think that to have an expert in forensic interviewing with a child present to the jury that her testimony was sound, consistent, unchanging was very strong and the jury would not be able to discern the way lawyers would how her input into that could affect the testimony.” (App. p. 1484, lines 11-17). When asked if the improper bolstering was prejudicial trial counsel Coggiola testified, “I would say it was prejudicial and I would say that if we had pointed it out that the jury would have heard that. You know, by objecting and saying Dr. DeFelice is bolstering, we would object on the bolstering, that the jury would have heard that and that would have been input for them to make a determination as to how to assess that particular form of evidence.” (App. p. 1485, lines 1-7).

Finally, PCR counsel asked, “And if you would have been successful in making an objection and essentially shutting down her testimony, how do you think that would have impacted the case?” (App. p. 1485, lines 8-10). Trial counsel Coggiola answered, “It would have had a huge impact on the case as that was the – you know, I mean to have the scientific evidence being sort of the battle of the scientists, which you’re going to have in these kinds of cases, the jury

would have to make their own determination on that, but for the other evidence to be the witness of one child, it would make a huge impact.” (App. p. 1485, lines 11-17).

In the order of dismissal the PCR judge found trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the testimony of Dr. DeFelice as bolstering. The PCR judge wrote, “Based on the testimony at trial and the testimony at the hearing, this Court finds counsel’s performance deficient for failing to object to Dr. DeFelice’s testimony on the grounds of bolstering.” (App. p. 1513). The PCR judge, however, found that the deficient performance was not prejudicial writing:

However, this Court finds the failure to object was not prejudicial in light of the overwhelming testimony in the record. Dr. DeFelice’s testimony bolstered the child witness who saw Applicant beating his foster daughter with a belt. The testimony of the child explained the bruising to the child’s buttocks, but did not relate to her cause of death. Trial counsel correctly and thoroughly argued that this case was not one about spanking and not about the death of a child from excessive spanking. Additionally, Applicant admitted spanking the child victim with a belt on the morning of her death. As a result, the child’s testimony did not contradict Applicant’s testimony and any bolstering would not have been prejudicial.

Further, the State offered overwhelming scientific evidence indicating the cause of death in this case was shaken baby syndrome. Numerous experts testified the injuries sustained by the child victim could only have occurred through a significant automobile accident, a multi-story fall, or violent shaking. The history provided by Applicant eliminated any possibility of the first two. The only person present at the house capable of causing the death of the victim through shaking was Applicant. As a result, Dr. DeFelice’s testimony, even if it was impermissible bolstering which should have been objected to by trial counsel, did not prejudice the Applicant such that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Therefore, this allegation is denied and dismissed.

(App. pp. 1513-1514). The PCR judge erred.

First, while the death did not result from Petitioner beating his foster daughter with a belt, the State argued in closing that the beating, as testified by NG, was part of the shaking and actions that did cause the death. In closing argument the prosecutor told the jury:

You saw her. She got up here and she was able to tell you what she saw that morning because as the defense brought up, she woke up and she ran in and she

heard something. By the time she got in there, and we don't speculate and we don't have to prove the order in which he beat this child, we don't have to prove that, Ladies and Gentlemen, saw him beating her with the belt. She was naked on the bed and he was spanking her with the belt. Was he shaking her as he beat her, or had he already shaken her and continued to beat her?

(App. p. 1006, lines 2-14). According to the State, NG's testimony about the beating related to the cause of death, making the credibility of NG's testimony a critical factor for the jury in deciding guilt of homicide by child abuse. According to the State, the beating witnessed by NG was part of the sequence of events that led to the death of the child. The improper bolstering testimony from the expert was prejudicial. This is especially true in light of the fact that the prosecutor specifically argued to the jury that they either had to believe NG or they had to believe Petitioner.

The prosecutor told the jury:

NG – didn't – she said this happened in the bedroom. She was very precise about that, with the belt. She was able to tell you what she could remember. She's a very brave little six year old child, but let's get one thing straight, either NG is telling you the truth, because if you believe Nathaniel Mitchell, she's making up this story.

On cross-examination, she talked about how yeah, she called 911. She would have called 911 because of the viciousness of that beating. She tried to and talked about how she wanted to do her best. She even talked about the night before she had been flipping on the light switch. Look at the pictures. It's right there. She remembers details.

On cross-examination she became somewhat fidgety and that was after the defense had gotten up and immediately addressed her as [Minor]. Did that bother her? You bet, but she still was able to testify anyway.

Yeah, she said the police came they came and took him away. They did take him away. Remember her testimony, remember her testimony. When asked, everything she said was credible. Are the time periods similar, like who was in what room? Yeah, Minor was in the room with her.

Well, Minor was beaten and she's very specific. She was beaten on the bed by that man, so either he's telling the truth or she is, but somebody is not. If they aren't telling the truth, what are they covering up?

(App. p. 1006, line 21 – p. 1007, p. 1008 lines 1-3). Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper bolstering because a critical factor to be determined by the jury was whether to believe NG or believe Petitioner.

Second, although Petitioner admitted spanking Minor, Petitioner's description of the spanking and what followed was in sharp contrast to NG's description. Petitioner testified that he "popped" both Minor and her brother [HG] on the butt with a belt for playing in the potty. (App. p. 807, line 4 – p. 808, lines 1-9). Petitioner testified that after the spanking he cleaned the children and the potty and the children ran out. (App. p. 808, lines 10-19). Petitioner testified that next, "Well, at that time H.G. backed up in the door and said, 'Papa, look.'" (App. p. 808, lines 21-22). Petitioner testified that he saw Minor laying face down on the floor in the hallway and not moving. (App. p. 808, line 24 – p. 809, lines 1-13). Petitioner picked Minor up and carried her back to the bedroom where she "stiffened up." (App. p. 809, line 15 – p. 810, lines 1-18). Petitioner testified that he did not know what to do and called his wife at work. (App. p. 810, line 19 – p. 811, lines 1-11). Again, Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper bolstering because a critical factor to be determined by the jury was whether to believe NG or believe Petitioner.

NG testified that she called the police and the police came to the house and she saw them take Petitioner away. On cross examination, however, the State's Chief Investigator, Investigator Jones with the Richland County Sheriff's Department testified that he could find no record of a 911 call being made on March 28, 2000, the morning of the incident (App. p. 671, lines 33-15). The investigator also testified that Petitioner was not arrested that morning. (App. p. 671, lines - 25). At the time of Petitioner's arrest, NG and her brother had already been removed from Petitioner's home by DSS. (App. pp. 498 – 500; p. 672, lines 4-7). The attempt to challenge the

apparent inconsistencies in NG's testimony was diminished by the improper bolstering by the expert witness.

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