STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

On Writ of Certiorari to Richland County  
The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000069

---

Nathaniel Mitchell,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 06 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

##

## ISSUE STATEMENT

- I. Whether the PCR court correctly found Petitioner was not prejudiced by trial counsels' failure to object to the testimony of the forensic interviewer when her testimony related only to N.G.'s statements at trial that Petitioner spanked P.G. on the morning of her death, where Petitioner admitted to the spanking in his testimony.
- II. Whether the PCR court correctly found trial counsel were not deficient for failing to object to the solicitor's closing argument regarding what Petitioner's wife knew when the argument was supported the record or reasonable inferences to be drawn from it.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nathaniel Mitchell (Petitioner) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Richland County Clerk of Court. In June 2000, a Richland County grand jury indicted Petitioner for homicide by child abuse (2000-GS-40-5066). Douglas Strickler, Esquire (Strickler), and Lee Coggiola, Esquire (Coggiola), represented Petitioner. On May 17, 2002, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Henry F. Floyd and a jury. Petitioner was found guilty as indicted. Judge Floyd sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for twenty-five years.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Robert Dudek, Esquire, (Appellate Counsel) perfected the appeal. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction on in a published opinion on January 10, 2005. State v. Mitchell, 362 S.C. 289, 608 S.E.2d 140 (Ct. App. 2005). The remittitur was returned to the circuit court on October 24, 2006.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on October 8, 2007. Respondent filed its Return and Motion to Dismiss on March 4, 2008. On January 23, 2012, Petitioner, through counsel, Tricia Blanchette, filed a Motion for Abeyance and/or Dismissal Without Prejudice. The State filed its return to the motion on February 29, 2012. Based on the information in Petitioner's motion, by order dated April 4, 2012, the Court appointed the Richland County Public Defender's Office for the limited purpose of filing a Motion for a New Trial Based on After-Discovered Evidence, pursuant to Rule 29(b), SCRimP. On April 3, 2015, a hearing was conducted on Petitioner's motion to stay the PCR at the Richland County

Courthouse before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. Petitioner was present and represented by Tricia Blanchette, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Clayton Mitchell, Esquire. Upon conclusion of the hearing, the Court ordered Petitioner's PCR application be held in abeyance until a final resolution be reached on Petitioner's motion for a new trial. On February 9, 2015, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Robert E. Hood to argue a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. By order dated July 29, 2015, Judge Hood denied the motion for a new trial.

On February 17, 2016, Petitioner through PCR counsel, filed an amendment to his original PCR application alleging ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Applicant filed a subsequent amendment to his PCR application on June 2, 2016, alleging further claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The PCR court convened an evidentiary hearing into the matter on July 12, 2016, at the Richland County Courthouse. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Tricia Blanchette, Esquire. Jessica E. Kinard, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Respondent. Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Also testifying at the evidentiary hearing were Petitioner's sister, Patricia Brockington, and Petitioner's trial counsel, Douglas Strickler (Strickler) and Lesley Coggiola (Coggiola). By written order dated December 14, 2018, the PCR court denied Petitioner's claims and dismissed his application for relief with prejudice.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal of the denial of post-conviction relief. On July 1, 2019, Petitioner, through counsel, filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court raising three issues. The case was transferred to this Court on

January 7, 2020. This Court granted certiorari on Issues 1 and 3 on January 5, 2022. Petitioner filed a brief on February 4, 2022. This Brief of Respondent follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The victim child in this case, P.G., was two years old when she died of head injuries sustained as a result of child abuse.<sup>1</sup> App.p.173. At the time, P.G. and two of her older siblings, H.G. and N.G., were living with their foster parents, Petitioner and his wife. App.p.472.

Dr. Robert Hubbird, the attending physician in the intensive care unit (ICU) at Palmetto Children's hospital, was qualified as an expert in pediatric intensive care. App.pp.139-42. Dr. Hubbird testified he was called to the emergency room at Richland Palmetto Memorial Hospital on March 28, 2000, when P.G. came in. App.p.144. Hubbird recalled "the child was being intubated in the emergency room... because the child was not breathing properly. . . . The child was in shock, and I needed to be down there to help with the care and resuscitation of this child." App.p.143. Hubbird testified he performed an initial neurological assessment of the child, which showed she was "not responsive to pain in any meaningful way, not moving around, [her] pupils were not responding as they should," and there were hemorrhages in her retinas. App.pp.148, 152. Dr. Hubbird testified the doctors ordered a CT scan, which showed a subdural hematoma and swelling of the brain with a "midline shift."<sup>2</sup> App.pp.150, 153-54. Hubbird explained the midline shift

---

<sup>1</sup> Prior to the start of testimony, one juror sent a note to the judge notifying him he was bothered by "gore" and had a history of passing out. App. p. 135. The judge explained there would likely be photographs of bruising introduced during trial, and the juror specifically stated that would not bother him. App. pp. 135-36. The judge determined the jury was qualified to serve, but informed the jury he should notify the judge if he was bothered during trial. App. p. 136. The records reflects the juror never raised the issue again.

<sup>2</sup> On cross-examination, Hubbird conceded the CT scan showed two hematomas – one "acute," or new, and one "chronic," or older. App. p. 190. Dr. Hubbird agreed he did

meant the right side of the brain was pushed over again the left side, indicating “massive, massive swelling and . . . massive damage.” App.p.154.

Hubbird testified all of these findings indicated child abuse as the cause of her injuries. App.p.155. According to Hubbird, the evidence of retinal hemorrhaging, the subdural hematoma, and the brain swelling, taken together, are “virtually diagnostic” of “shaken baby syndrome.” App.p.175. Dr. Hubbird explained shaken baby syndrome is “violent, whiplash-like shaking of an infant or small toddler.” App.p.175. Hubbird further testified these types of injuries do not result from a normal fall or a quick, one-time trauma to the head, and instead they only result from violent injuries such as an automobile accident or fall from a multi-story building. App.pp.175-76. However, Hubbird noted, in those instances, you expect to see other injuries, such as broken bones, which were not present on P.G. App.p.176.

Hubbird testified he spoke with Petitioner and Petitioner’s wife to obtain the child’s history for diagnostic purposes. App.p.158. Petitioner told Hubbird P.G. had been alert and in good health earlier in the morning, and then had a “jerky seizure.” App.p.158. Dr. Hubbird specifically inquired of Petitioner about any history of trauma such as a car accident, a substantial blow to the head, or ingestion of a foreign object, but Petitioner denied any such history. App.pp.158-60. Hubbird stated “the history of the child that was related to me did not fit” the child’s condition, which was

---

not know the circumstances under which the initial hematoma occurred. App.p.202. However, Hubbird testified he did not believe P.G.’s injuries were caused by the older hematoma re-bleeding into itself. App.p.212.

a “red flag.” App.p.159. Dr. Hubbird testified he brought in two other doctors, Dr. Linda Christmann and Dr. Anne Abel, to confirm the diagnosis. App.pp.165-66.

Dr. Christmann, who was qualified as an expert in pediatric ophthalmology, testified she consults on cases where child abuse is suspected. App.pp.230, 232. Christmann testified she is often called to determine the presence or absence of retinal hemorrhaging in a child-patient because “retinal hemorrhages occur much more frequently in babies who are shaken or intentionally injured as compared to those who are injured accidentally.” App.p.234.

Dr. Christmann testified she first examined P.G. shortly after P.G.’s birth, because she was premature, which can lead to a specific eye problem called retinopathy prematurity, but P.G.’s exam was negative. App.p.239. Christmann examined P.G. again approximately one month later and diagnosed P.G. as farsighted, with a recommendation for follow up in one year. App.pp.239-40. Christmann examined P.G. again at the follow-up appointment in December 1999, by which time P.G.’s farsightedness had resolved, and she had no other eye issues. App.p.240. Christmann specifically testified P.G. did not have any retinal hemorrhages at the December 1999 exam. App.p.240.

Christmann examined P.G. again in March 2000 when she presented to the emergency room after this incident, and at that time, Christmann noted multiple retinal hemorrhages in both of P.G.’s eyes. App.pp.241-43. Christmann stated the hemorrhages “were not the kind of hemorrhages that occur when there is pressure on the brain only,” and instead they were the kind “very characteristically seen in shaken baby syndrome.” App.p.244. Dr. Christmann further testified the

hemorrhages had occurred “very recently, ”not more than twenty-four to forty-eight hours prior. App.pp.244-45. Dr. Christmann confirmed Hubbird’s testimony that the retinal hemorrhaging she observed in P.G. could not be caused by a normal fall or accidental shaking, or inflicted by a child, and instead they could only be caused by a fall from several stories or a “very violent shaking.” App.p.246.

Next, Dr. Abel, the director of the Child and Adolescent Protection Center at the Children’s National Medical Center in Washington, D. C., testified about her involvement in P.G.’s case as an expert in forensic pediatrics. App.pp.281, 284. Abel testified she is often called in on cases to given an opinion on whether child abuse is present. App.p.285. Abel examined P.G. on March 29, 2000, at Dr. Hubbird’s request. Abel explained she reviewed P.G.’s medical chart, including lab reports and imaging studies; spoke with other physicians involved in P.G.’s case; reviewed the history given by Petitioner and his wife, as well as by DSS; and conducted her own physical examination of P.G. App.pp.286-88. Abel testified P.G. had “brown bruises... on both of her buttocks and the upper arm” which were at least eighteen hours old, and possibly as old as two weeks. App.pp.290, 292. Abel testified the bruising resulted from blunt force trauma such as a beating, being thrown into a wall, or a car wreck. App.pp.295-96.

Abel concluded P.G. “had evidence of inflicted held trauma, which is a form of physical child abuse. . . . Putting it all together she looked the victim of multiple forms of physical abuse.” App.p.297. Abel testified P.G.’s injuries “told me that she had signs and symptoms of shaken baby syndrome, as well as a battered child.” App.p.297. Abel further confirmed the testimony of Doctors Hubbird and

Christmann, stating P.G.'s condition was caused by "acute subdural hematoma related to shaking, because the eye findings were fresh and they could not be attributed to shaking three weeks ago." App.p.298. Dr. Abel also confirmed P.G.'s injuries could not have been accidental, caused by a fall, or inflicted by a child. App.p.299. Finally, Abel testified P.G.'s injuries could not be caused by a "re-bleed" of the earlier hematoma because P.G. also had brain swelling, which does not occur with rebleeding. App.pp.302-04. Dr. Abel testified P.G.'s injuries were caused by a recent, violent head injury. App.p.304.

Dr. Timothy Close, a radiologist at Palmetto Richland Memorial Hospital was qualified as an expert in that field, testified he reviewed P.G.'s CT scan. App.pp.325-26, 328, 330. Dr. Close testified "there was blood inside the skull . . . pushing the right side of the brain," which "looked like it was probably very new." App.pp.330-31. Close also noted "a very small amount of old blood that was on the same side." App.p.331. Close opined the older subdural hematoma was at least a month old, and the new blood was "within a few days old. . . . [or] may only be a few hours old – as in twelve or less." App.pp.334, 344, 350. Because of the rate of bleeding and the swelling of P.G.'s brain, Close testified he believed the new blood to be less than twelve hours old at the time of the CT. App.pp.373-74, 379-80.

Close testified a spontaneous re-bleed of an old subdural hematoma does not occur in healthy children.<sup>3</sup> App.pp.352-53. Close explained the old hematoma was

---

<sup>3</sup> Close testified he reviewed P.G.'s medical records from birth, which included an ultrasound of the brain. Close noted the ultrasound indicated possible small bleeds in a different part of the brain, but he testified the CT scan indicated those had resolved and were not involved in the acute hematoma in any way. App.pp.355-57.

small, and the new hematoma was “a large bleed . . . a significant bleed.” App.p.353. Close opined the new bleed had to occur because of new trauma, and not “just because there was an old bleed. . . .”<sup>4</sup> App.p.353. Close explained although the two hematomas were on the same side, they were not in the same area as he would expect to see if the acute hematoma was caused by re-bleeding. App.p.354. He concluded the two hematomas were caused by separate traumatic events. App.p.354.

Close testified, “I believe this baby was shaken and then some.” App.p.360. Close explained, based on the characteristics of the new blood seen on the CT scan, “while that could happen from a shaken baby, that would take much more immense pressure than I would ever assume from a shaken baby.” App.p.359. Close noted he had only seen similar bleeding in children who had been in car wrecks or fallen from a three-story building. Close testified the bleeding P.G.’s case could be from “a very hard blow from the cuff, from the heel of the hand, and the rest of the injuries are more likely from shaken baby than anything else.” App.pp.361-62. Close agreed P.G.’s injuries were not accident and could not have been caused by a fall from the height of a toddler or another child pushing P.G. down. App.pp.362-63, 387.

Dr. Robert Burns, a pathologist at Richland Memorial Hospital, conducted P.G.’s autopsy and testified as an expert in pathology. App.p.393. Dr. Burns noted bruising in several spots on P.G.’s body, including her buttocks. App.p.399. Burns testified he examined P.G.’s internal organs and opined she was a normal, healthy

---

<sup>4</sup> Close testified, “You can get re-bleed from shaken baby...” but given the extent of the new bleeding, he believed P.G.’s injuries were caused by “shaken baby and a blow.” App.p.382.

child. App.p.407. Burns testified the condition of P.G.'s brain was consistent with brain death, and the examination of her eyes revealed the presence of retinal hemorrhages, as well hemorrhaging around the optic nerve of the left eye. App.pp.408-09. Burns stated his autopsy findings were "consistent with a baby that had been shaken violently." App.p.411. He also stated his examination of the bruises on P.G.'s buttocks showed fresh and old bleeding. App.p.430.

Dr. Bryan Rabon testified he worked in the Pediatric ICU when P.G. came into the unit. App.p.434. Rabon stated Hubbird tasked him with speaking to Petitioner to obtain P.G.'s history, specifically to inquire if she had suffered any falls, blows, or accidents, or if Petitioner could provide any other information to explain P.G.'s condition. App.p.435. According to Rabon, Petitioner told him, P.G. "was in the bathroom that morning and subsequently went to the bathroom and fell out and was unresponsive." App.p.436.

Similarly, the DSS worker, Cookie Grant, testified she responded to the hospital to speak with Petitioner and his wife about what happened to P.G., and Petitioner told her "he took her to the bathroom just like he did every morning, and when he took her to put her Pamper on, that she had a seizure." App.pp.468-69, 476. Petitioner told Grant he was the only adult present in the home at the time. App.p.477.

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